2008

# Jonathan Hall v. Jason Steimle : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This matter involves the final decision and order of the Fourth District Court in the case of Hall v. Steimle. As a result, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to: Utah Code Ann. §78A-3-102(3).

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

The issues raised in this appeal arose out of a grant of summary judgment for defendant in a personal injury lawsuit. In granting summary judgment the trial court held that because the plaintiff had not designated a medical expert, the plaintiff could not establish causation. The trial court found that neck and back injuries suffered by a plaintiff with pre-existing neck and back injuries is an injury which “involves obscure medical factors which are beyond an ordinary lay person’s knowledge”. In so finding, the trial court stripped the jury of its role as fact finder. The trial court’s order granting summary judgment is attached as Addendum One. Petitioner’s notice of appeal is attached as Addendum Two.

**Issue for review:** Whether a Plaintiff, with pre-existing neck and back injuries, who is claiming neck and back injuries as a result of an automobile accident is required to hire an expert witness to testify solely as to causation when his treating doctors have already been identified as potential witnesses and the Utah Court of Appeals has previously ruled that neck and back injuries resulting from automobile accidents, “involve medical damages within the common experience of a layperson” *Beard v. K-Mart Corporation*, 12 P.3d 1015, 1018 (Utah App. 2000).

**Standard of review:** DeNovo; "'Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, [appellate courts] give the trial court's legal conclusions no particular deference.'" Mast v. Overson, 971 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted).

**Issue for review:** With respect to causation, does the fact that a plaintiff begins experiencing pain on the day of the accident establish a *prima facie* case of causation to be submitted to a jury where the defense has misrepresented to the trial court that the plaintiff did not begin experiencing pain until a couple days after the accident?

**Standard of review:** DeNovo; "'Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, [appellate courts] give the trial court's legal conclusions no particular deference.'" Mast v. Overson, 971 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a personal injury case seeking compensation for injuries and damages suffered by Jonathon Hall and alleged to have been caused by the negligence of Jason Steimle.

The complaint was filed in Fourth District Court on December 9, 2004. Service was accepted by Defendant's attorney on February 15, 2006. Defendant's Answer was filed on or about February 17, 2006.

A stipulated discovery plan was filed on or about March 9, 2006. The discovery plan called for all discovery to be completed by January 22, 2007. Plaintiff's expert reports were due November 22, 2006.



An amended stipulated scheduling order was filed on or about March, 26, 2007. The amended discovery plan called for all discovery to be completed by August 15, 2007. Plaintiff's expert reports were due June 1, 2007.

Defendant moved for summary judgment on December 5, 2007. Plaintiff filed his opposition to Defendant's motion for summary judgment on December 20, 2007. Defendant filed a reply memorandum in support of his motion for summary judgment on January 4, 2008.

Oral arguments were had before Judge Taylor on March 25, 2008. At the conclusion of oral arguments, Judge Taylor granted Defendant's motion for summary judgment. The final order was prepared by defendant and signed by Judge Taylor on April 25, 2008.

Plaintiff filed his notice of appeal with the district court on May 27, 2008. This appeal was accepted by the Utah Supreme Court and transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals on June 4, 2008. Plaintiff filed a docketing statement with the Utah Court of Appeals on June 26, 2008. On October 30, 2008, the Utah Court of Appeals gave plaintiff notice that plaintiff's appellant brief was due on or before December 12, 2008.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On December 11, 2000, Jonathon Hall was riding as a passenger in Defendant's vehicle as they traveled from Rexburg, Idaho to Salt Lake City, Utah. (Complaint, ¶ 3, attached as Addendum Three; Hall Deposition, p. 23, lines 13-23, attached as Addendum Four).

As the vehicle approached the 33<sup>rd</sup> South freeway exxhit on I-15, Defendant saw that a car was off the road. In response, Defendant slowed his vehicle from freeway speeds to about 40 to 45 miles per hour. Prior to slowing, Mr. Hall estimated that Defendant had been traveling between 65 and 70 miles per hour. (Complaint, ¶ 3; Hall Deposition, p 20, lines 14-18; p. 69, lines 5-12).

In the early morning hours, while attempting to slow down, Defendant's vehicle began to slide on black ice. After sliding 20 to 30 yards, the vehicle collided with the retaining wall of the off-ramp. (Hall Deposition, p 20-21, lines 21-22, 1-2, 17-18).

At the point of impact, Mr. Hall's head moved to the side. Mr. Hall's head did not hit a window or any objects inside of the vehicle. (Hall Deposition, pp. 28-29, lines 14-25, 1).

Following the accident, Mr. Hall returned home and fell asleep. Upon awakening later that morning, Mr. Hall experienced pain in his neck and back:

- Q. So the first day you experienced pain, you went and saw Dr. Anderson?
- A. Yes. I called him and said, "I need to come in right away." Because I woke up in a lot of pain. Couldn't move my head at all.
- Q. Describe the pain that you experienced on that very first day you felt it.
- A. Well, I woke up in the morning and I couldn't move my head. I remember when I – I simply called him and told him that I needed to come in and have that adjusted because it was in a lot of pain.

(Hall Deposition, p. 32, lines 7-17).

Mr. Hall scheduled and attended an appointment with his chiropractor,

Dr. Anderson, later on the day of the accident. (Hall Deposition, pp. 30-31, lines 7-8, 25, 1).

On December 11, 2000, the day of the accident, Mr. Hall presented to the Anderson Chiropractic Center with complaints of neck pain. (Anderson Chiropractic Notes, attached as Addendum Five).

Mr. Hall had previously consulted with Dr. Anderson regarding his neck pain prior to the motor vehicle accident at issue in this case. Two months earlier, on October 4, 2000, Mr. Hall received his initial chiropractic assessment from Anderson Chiropractic Center, at which time he complained of neck and back pain, rating his neck pain at a 4 on a scale from 1 to 10. (Id.)

Mr. Hall also testified that his October 2000 visit to Anderson Chiropractic was not to treat a specific injury but was to receive preventative chiropractic care. (Hall Deposition, pp. 61-62, lines 15-25; 1-5).

Mr. Hall had suffered neck and back injuries prior to the accident at issue in this case. In discovery responses he stated: "Plaintiff had a whiplash injury in the summer of 1998/1999 when he dove into a shallow lake. He was treated by Dr. Frank Smith [in Wichita, Kansas]. He sustained a back injury and whiplash injury from hitting his chin on the lake bed.") Plaintiff's Answers to Defendant's First Set of Interrogatories, p. 6; attached as Addendum Six).

Mr. Hall described the pain he experienced on the day of the accident as being different pain than what he had experienced following the diving accident. (Hall

Deposition, p. 60, lines 2-10).

Mr. Hall described the pain he experienced following the December 11, 2000 accident as being a lot more painful than his previous injuries. (Hall Deposition, p. 61, lines 3-9).

Mr. Hall testified at his deposition that there was a noticeable difference in the way his neck felt prior to the December 2000 accident and the way it felt after the December 2000 accident. (Hall Deposition, p. 62, lines 6-11).

On December 9, 2004, Mr. Hall initiated this lawsuit, asserting negligence claims against Defendant in connection with the December 2000 motor vehicle accident. (Complaint, ¶ 5).

In his Complaint, Mr. Hall alleges that he “suffered permanent injuries to his neck and back,” caused by Defendant’s alleged negligence. (Complaint, ¶ 5).

Mr. Hall designated his treating physician, Dr. Anderson, as a witness in his initial disclosures on April 4, 2006, specifically stating that “It is anticipated that Dr. Anderson will testify consistent with his medical records.” (Plaintiff’s Rule 26(a) Initial Disclosures, attached as Addendum Seven).

Mr. Hall did not designate a medical expert prior to the cutoff for doing so.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Under Utah case law, cases involving injuries to the neck, back and shoulder resulting from car accidents involve medical damages within the common experience of a layperson and therefore expert medical testimony is not required to establish causation.

The plaintiff in this case can establish a *prima facie* case of causation through the testimony of the plaintiff who will testify as to the circumstances of the accident and the fact that he began experiencing severe pain in his neck and back on the day of the accident. He will testify that the pain he experienced was of a different kind than what he experienced prior to the accident. He will testify that he sought chiropractic care prior to this injury for preventative reasons. Mr. Hall's treating chiropractor will testify as to his condition prior to this accident and as to the basis of the treatments he received. Mr. Hall's treating chiropractor will testify as to his condition following this accident as observed on the day of the accident and note that the injuries he sought treatment for were different than the conditions for which he had been receiving treatment..

Furthermore, there are disputed material facts concerning when Mr. Hall began experiencing pain and the nature of his chiropractic treatment before and after the accident. Finally, because Mr. Hall has established a *prima facie* case of causation, the trial court improperly stripped the jury of its role as fact finder.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **Plaintiff does not need a expert medical testimony to establish a *prima facie* case of causation**

In Utah, Plaintiffs carry the "burden [of] establish[ing] a *prima facie* case of negligence," Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 893 P.2d 598, 601 (Utah Ct.App.1995), including "proximate and actual causation of the injury," *id.* at 600; see also Jackson v. Colston, 116 Utah 295, 209 P.2d 566, 568 (1949) ("It is fundamental that the burden rests

upon the plaintiff to establish the causal connection between the injury and the alleged negligence of the defendant.”). “[T]he causal connection between the alleged negligent act and the injury is never presumed and ... this is a matter the plaintiff is always required to prove affirmatively.” Jackson, 209 P.2d at 568. Although “the question of proximate causation is generally reserved for the jury,” Clark, 893 P.2d at 601 (internal quotation marks omitted), “the trial court may rule as a matter of law on this issue ... if ... ‘there is no evidence to establish a causal connection, thus leaving causation to jury speculation,’ ” *id.* (quoting Steffensen v. Smith's Mgmt. Corp., 820 P.2d 482, 487 (Utah Ct.App.1991)).

This court has had recent opportunity to rule on when expert medical testimony is required to establish a prima facie case of negligence. The cases are Beard v. K-Mart Corp., 2000 UT App 285, 12 P.3d 1015, and Fox v. Brigham Young University, 2007 UT App 406, 176 P.3d 446. The Beard decision cites two cases from other jurisdictions, Jordan v. Smoot, 191 Ga.App. 74, 380 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1989); and Walton v. Gallbraith, 15 Mich.App. 490, 166 N.W.2d 605, 606 (1969), in which causation was established without the benefit of expert testimony..

In Beard this Court stated, “[t]he need for positive expert testimony to establish a causal link between the defendants' negligent act and the plaintiff's injury depends on the nature of the injury.” *Id.* at ¶ 16 (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, “[w]here the injury involves obscure medical factors which are beyond an ordinary lay person's knowledge, necessitating speculation in making a finding, there must be expert testimony that the negligent act probably caused the injury.” *Id.* (citations and internal quotation

marks omitted). In such cases, the “testimony of lay witnesses regarding the need for specific medical treatment is inadequate to submit the issue to the jury.” Id.

In examining Beard it should be noted that the evidentiary problem for the Plaintiff in Beard was that as a result of being struck in the head by a K-Mart employee’s elbow, the Plaintiff required multiple neurological surgeries. The opinion in Beard specifically applies to “this medical causation issue”, i.e. neurological surgeries resulting from an elbow strike to the head. Mr. Hall is not seeking damages for neurological surgeries. The injuries claimed by Mr. Hall are commonly referred to as soft tissue injuries.

In reaching the Beard decision this court reviewed two cases proffered by Beard, Jordan v. Smoot, 191 Ga.App. 74, 380 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1989); and Walton v. Gallbraith, 15 Mich.App. 490, 166 N.W.2d 605, 606 (1969), in which causation was established without the benefit of expert testimony. Smoot involved injuries sustained as the result of an automobile accident. The treatment consisted of chiropractic care. Quoting the Georgia Court of Appeals:

Appellant's case consisted of her testimony and that of the responding police officer, pictures of her damaged car, and her medical bill. Through her testimony, appellant established that she was involved in a collision with appellee; that later that same day she experienced pain and visited a chiropractor; that she continued to have pain from the back of her head through her neck and shoulders; that the chiropractic treatments gave her relief; that she stopped seeing the chiropractor four months after the collision; and that she had suffered from some backaches prior to the collision but had not been under medical care. Pursuant to OCGA § 24-7-9, appellant identified the medical bills for her chiropractic treatment from March 12 through July 20, 1987, totaling \$2,245. Appellant then rested...

Id. at 714.

In finding that the plaintiff had met the burden of proof with respect to causation the court held:

However, where, as here, there is no significant lapse of time between the injury sustained and the onset of the physical condition for which the injured party seeks compensation, and the *injury sustained is a matter which jurors must be credited with knowing by reason of common knowledge*, expert medical testimony is not required in order for a plaintiff to establish a personal injury case sufficient to withstand a defendant's motion for directed verdict.

Id. at 714-715, (emphasis added by the Utah Court of Appeals in Beard).

The facts in Walton, 15 Mich.App. 490, 166 N.W.2d 605, are similar. the plaintiff sued the defendant for neck, back, and shoulder injuries caused by a car accident. At trial, no physician testified for the plaintiff, and the defendant “objected to the admission into evidence of bills for medicine and treatment on the ground that there was no showing that they were causally connected with the ... accident.” The defendant also requested an instruction to exclude the jury's consideration of the bills. The trial court denied both motions, and the jury awarded the plaintiff \$3500 in damages. On appeal, the defendant argued it was error to introduce plaintiff's medical bills. The plaintiff, on the other hand, argued “that a causal connection between the accident and the injury may be shown without expert testimony.” Id. at 605-06. The Walton court stated:

A brief review of the function of the jury leads us to the conclusion that plaintiff's position is the correct one. Her testimony emphasizes the facts



that there were no previous neck or back pains and that they began the day after the accident.

*In a situation such as this, it should be clear to men of common experience that the cause of the injuries was the accident and no expert was needed to demonstrate this fact.*

Therefore, the court sustained the jury's verdict in favor of the plaintiff. Id. at 606.

In comparing Smoot and Walton to Beard this Court stated: “we conclude these cases are factually distinguishable as they involve medical damages within the common experience of a layperson.” Beard at 1018. Thus according to this Court’s decision in Beard, cases involving injuries to the neck, back and shoulder resulting from car accidents involve medical damages within the common experience of a layperson.

Fox v. BYU was decided by this Court after Beard. The plaintiff in Fox suffered knee injuries during a slip and fall. Prior to the slip and fall, the plaintiff had been diagnosed with osteoarthritis.

At the scene of Mrs. Fox's fall, she first attributed the cause of her fall to the fact that her knee “gave out.” She admitted to the EMTs that she had been diagnosed with a pre-existing condition, osteoarthritis, in that same knee. Thus, by her own initial explanation of the cause of her fall and her admission of an osteoarthritic condition, Mrs. Fox tied the cause of her fall to medical factors sufficiently complicated to be beyond the ordinary senses and common experience of a layperson. Mrs. Fox's lay testimony would not have been sufficient to determine whether the need for her medical treatment, the surgery and attachment of the fixator, was caused by BYU's allegedly defective stairs or the failure of her own arthritic knee.

The only evidence the plaintiff intended to call at trial to establish causation was her own testimony. This Court determined that, “[t]he trial court did not err in dismissing

the Foxes' negligence claim for failure to present expert testimony on the element of causation because the factors associated with Mrs. Fox's fall and injury were sufficiently medically complex to require such testimony.”

The facts in this case compare favorably to the facts in Smoot and Walton. In this case, Mr. Hall suffered neck and back injuries following an automobile accident. Like the Plaintiff in Smoot, Mr. Hall experienced neck and back pain prior to the December 11, 2000 automobile accident. However, the pain he experienced following the accident was of a different kind and was more severe. In Walton, the only evidence necessary to establish causation was that of the Plaintiff. In this case, Plaintiff has designated his treating chiropractor, Dr. Anderson, as a fact witness. Dr. Anderson treated Mr. Hall on October 4, 2000. Dr. Anderson's testimony will establish a baseline of what Mr. Hall's condition was prior to the accident at issue. Dr. Anderson treated Mr. Hall following the accident on the same day as the accident. Dr. Anderson's testimony concerning the observable changes to Mr. Hall's condition versus his condition prior to the accident on December 11, 2000 is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of negligence.

#### **Genuine issues of material fact**

There is a dispute in this case as to when Mr. Hall began experiencing pain following the December 11, 2000 accident. There is also a dispute as to the location, type and severity of the pain experienced by Mr. Hall following the accident. As noted in Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc., 110 P.3d 678 (Utah, 2005), summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and

“the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56:

In addition, “[the court] view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.”

BYU v. Tremco, quoting Prince v. Bear River Mut. Ins. Co., 2002 UT 68, ¶ 14, 56 P.3d 524.

As to the specific issue of causation:

The question of proximate causation “is generally reserved for the jury.” Steffensen, 820 P.2d at 486 (citing Godesky v. Provo City Corp., 690 P.2d 541, 544 (Utah 1984)). Consequently, the trial court may rule as a matter of law on this issue only if: “(1) there is no evidence to establish a causal connection, thus leaving causation to jury speculation, or (2) where reasonable persons could not differ on the inferences to be derived from the evidence on proximate causation.” Steffensen, 820 P.2d at 487 (citing Robertson v. Sixpence Inns of Am., Inc., 163 Ariz. 539, 546, 789 P.2d 1040, 1047 (1990) (en banc)).

Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 893 P.2d 598, 601, (Utah App. 1995).

In Clark, quoted above, the plaintiff had no memory of how he was injured. The experts who testified could not testify as to which driver among many had hit the plaintiff’s vehicle and thus there truly was no evidence of causation.

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