2008

Jonathan Hall v. Jason Steimle : Brief of Appellee Jason Steimle

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court’s ruling on Mr. Steimle’s Motion for Summary Judgment should be upheld based on the following:

First, Mr. Hall’s brief fails to provide any citation to the Record and therefore fails to comply with Rules 24(a)(7) and 24(e) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Accordingly, Mr. Hall’s appeal should be dismissed.

Second, the Trial Court correctly held that Mr. Hall was required to designate an expert in order to meet his prima facie burden on the element of causation. Prior to the December 2000 MVA, Mr. Hall suffered a whiplash injury when he dove into a shallow lake. Because Mr. Hall was still treating for neck pain just prior to the MVA, he cannot establish

his neck problems were caused by the MVA absent expert testimony. Because Mr. Hall never retained an expert to render an opinion on causation, the Trial Court correctly dismissed his claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FORM OF THE JONATHAN HALL BRIEF REQUIRES DISMISSAL

A. LEGAL STANDARD

Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure makes clear that an appellant's brief "shall be supported by citations to the record...." Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(7).

The mandatory language of Rule 24 has long been enforced by this Court. For example, in *State v. Reiners*, 803 P.2d 1300 (Utah App. 1990), this Court stated that a brief must have some support for every contention made in the brief. A brief must also develop appellate arguments and explicitly tie those arguments to the Record. *West Valley City v. Majestic Investment Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311 (Utah App. 1991). Furthermore, the failure to make a concise statement of facts and citation to the pages in the Record where those facts are supported will result in this Court assuming the correctness of the judgment below. *Steele v. Board of Review of Industrial Comm'n*, 845 P.2d 960 (Utah App. 1993).

B. THE JONATHAN HALL BRIEF FAILS TO PROPERLY CITE TO THE RECORD

Mr. Hall's brief fails to follow the requirements of Rule 24(a)(7) and 24(e) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Mr. Hall does not provide this Court with a single citation to the official Record. Instead, Mr. Hall adopts his own procedure of placing documents he believes to be relevant in the addendum to the brief and then simply citing to that addendum. A reading of Rule 24 and the case law cited above shows that this Court has a reasonable standard of anticipating briefing will be completed in compliance with Rule 24. Rule 24 is structured to allow this Court to review the case without shifting the work to the Court of Appeals to compensate for deficiencies in the legal advocacy of the brief. Mr. Hall's brief fails to meet that standard. As explained above, failure to cite to the official record has been found sufficient alone to dismiss or affirm an appeal.

Rather than providing this Court with Record evidence in order to support his arguments, Mr. Hall improperly expects this Court to verify his arguments by searching the Record on its own. Accordingly, Mr. Hall's appeal should be dismissed for failure to follow the fundamental rules of presenting an argument to this Court.

II. BECAUSE MR. HALL FAILED TO DESIGNATE A CAUSATION EXPERT, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED HIS CLAIMS

Because Mr. Hall failed to present expert testimony to establish prima facie evidence of causation, the Trial Court correctly granted Mr. Steimle's Motion for Summary Judgment.

According to the Utah Supreme Court, “[c]ausation is one of the critical elements of any negligence action.” *Patey v. Lainhart*, 977 P.2d 1193, 1197 (Utah 1999). In the present action, Mr. Hall is unable to prove that the December 2000 MVA caused injuries to his neck and back. Accordingly, the Trial Court properly dismissed his claims.

A. Expert Testimony Is Necessary to Establish a Causal Link Between the Motor Vehicle Accident and Plaintiff’s Alleged Injuries

Mr. Hall seeks damages for “permanent injuries to his neck and back,” as well as medical expenses allegedly related to the MVA. However, any causal link between the December 2000 accident and Mr. Hall’s alleged injuries is beyond an ordinary lay person’s knowledge, which required Mr. Hall to present expert causation testimony. The Utah Court of Appeals addressed this precise issue in *Beard v. K-Mart Corporation*, 2000 UT App 285, 12 P.3d 1015.

In *Beard*, the plaintiff was injured in a K-Mart store when an employee struck her in the head with his elbow as he attempted to start a lawnmower. *Id.* at ¶2. Thereafter, the plaintiff sought damages relating to surgeries, which she alleged were necessitated by the accident. *Id.* Although the plaintiff retained an expert, he was unable to testify to a degree of medical probability that the accident at K-Mart caused the need for the surgeries. *Id.* at ¶3. The Utah Court of Appeals held that the plaintiff was therefore unable to prove the accident caused the need for surgery:

In Utah, in all but the most obvious cases, testimony of lay witnesses regarding the need for specific medical treatment is inadequate to submit the issue to the jury. Where the injury involves obscure medical factors which are beyond an ordinary lay person's knowledge, necessitating speculation in making a finding, **there must be expert testimony that the negligent act probably caused the injury.**

The diagnosis and potential continuance of a disease are medical questions to be established by physicians as expert witnesses and not by lay persons. Thus, we conclude expert testimony on this medical causation issue was required before the issue of damages arising from these surgeries was submitted to the jury.

Id. at ¶16. (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals recently revisited this issue in the case of *Fox v. Brigham Young University*, 2007 UT App 406, 176 P.3d 446. In *Fox*, the plaintiffs brought suit against BYU for negligence and loss of consortium, alleging BYU had negligently maintained stairs on its property, which caused the plaintiff to slip, fall, and break her leg. *Id.* at ¶8. Prior to the accident, the plaintiff had been diagnosed with osteoarthritis in her right knee. *Id.* Before trial, the plaintiffs conceded they would not be presenting expert testimony, asserting that lay testimony was sufficient because the injury and damages experienced were within the realm of common experience. *Id.* at ¶9. Based on the plaintiffs' pre-existing condition, BYU brought a motion in limine, arguing expert testimony was required to establish a causal link between the incident at BYU and the plaintiff's injuries. *Id.* at ¶8. The trial court, recognizing the dispositive nature of BYU's motion in limine, converted the motion to one

for dismissal. *Id.* at ¶10. The trial court held that the plaintiffs “could not sustain their burden of proof as to causation and damages because [plaintiffs’] lay witness testimony was insufficient to establish their prima facie case.” *Id.* at ¶11. The trial court noted that “it had been presented with two plausible theories of causation – failure of an osteoarthritic knee or defective stairs – and, absent expert testimony, the court would have to use speculation to choose between the two theories.” *Id.*

The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed, emphasizing that the “causal connection between the alleged negligent act and the injury is never presumed and ... this is a matter the plaintiff is always required to prove affirmatively.” *Id.* at ¶21 (quoting *Jackson v. Colston*, 209 P.2d 566, 568 (Utah 1949)).

Based on the foregoing law in Utah, the *Fox* court held: “[the plaintiff’s] lay testimony would not have been sufficient to determine whether the need for her medical treatment, the surgery and attachment of the fixator, was caused by BYU’s allegedly defective stairs or the failure of her own arthritic knee.” *Id.* at ¶23. Because the plaintiff’s lay testimony was insufficient, “the trial court correctly ruled that [the plaintiff] had failed to prove the element of causation.” *Id.*

Like the plaintiffs in *Beard* and *Fox*, Mr. Hall was required to retain an expert to testify that the December 2000 MVA caused permanent injuries to his neck and back. Furthermore, expert testimony was required to establish a causal link between the MVA and

Mr. Hall's medical expenses. It is undisputed that prior to the accident at issue, Mr. Hall suffered a whiplash injury when he dove into a shallow lake. After that incident, Mr. Hall sought medical treatment from Dr. Smith in Wichita, Kansas for neck and back pain. As of October 2000, just two months prior to the MVA, Mr. Hall presented to Dr. Anderson with continued complaints of neck and back pain, rating his neck pain at a 4 on a scale from 1 to 10. At that time, Mr. Hall was assessed as having chronic cervical dorsal myofascial pain syndrome with C7/T1 subluxation, as well as thoracic dysfunction.

Based on the complexity of Mr. Hall's alleged neck and back injuries, an ordinary lay person would be forced to speculate as to whether the December 2000 MVA caused any injuries. Moreover, any such lay person would have to speculate as to the necessity of Plaintiff's medical expenses. Under Mr. Hall's theory of the case, the finder of fact would have to simply guess what caused Mr. Hall's injuries: (1) Mr. Hall's lake-diving accident; or, (2) the December 2000 accident. Accordingly, Mr. Hall is unable to prove the element of causation. As was the case in *Beard and Fox*, Mr. Hall was required to provide expert testimony on the issue of causation. Because Mr. Hall failed to designate an expert on causation, the Trial Court correctly dismissed his claims.

B. Mr. Hall Misconstrues Utah Case Law Regarding the Need for Expert Testimony on Causation

Mr. Hall argues that, under Utah law, "cases involving injuries to the neck, back and shoulder resulting from car accidents involve medical damages within the common

experience of a layperson.” (Hall Brief, p. 11). In order to support this assertion, Mr. Hall cites two cases from other jurisdictions, *Jordan v. Smoot*, 380 S.E.2d 714 (Ga. App. 1989) and *Walton v. Gallbraith*, 166 N.W.2d 605, 606 (Mich. App. 1969).² Both cases are factually distinguishable from the present case.

In *Jordan*, the undisputed evidence showed that the plaintiff had never been under medical care for similar injuries prior to the auto accident in question. 380 S.E.2d at 714. Similarly, in *Walton*, the Michigan Court of Appeals emphasized that the plaintiff had experienced “no previous neck or back pains” and that the pain began “on the day after the accident.” 166 N.W.2d at 606. Because neither of the plaintiffs sought medical treatment for similar injuries prior to the motor vehicle accidents in question, the *Walton* and *Jordan* courts correctly found that no expert testimony was required on causation.

To the contrary, in this case Mr. Hall suffered neck and back injury prior to the December 2000 accident. Indeed, Plaintiff was still actively treating for neck pain in October 2000, just two months prior to the accident. Accordingly, the *Walton* and *Jordan* cases are distinguishable from, and therefore inapplicable to, the present action.

²These same cases were addressed in *Beard v. K-Mart Corporation*, 2000 UT App 285, 12 P.3d 1015. The *Beard* court ultimately dismissed their applicability, since “they involve[d] medical damages within the common experience of a layperson.” *Id.* at ¶13.

C. Mr. Hall Cannot Rely on Treating Physicians to Provide Causation Testimony

In his opening brief, Mr. Hall argues he has designated Dr. Anderson, one of his treating physicians, as a fact witness. (Hall Brief, p. 12). Mr. Hall argues that “Dr. Anderson’s testimony concerning observable changes to Mr. Hall’s condition versus his condition prior to the accident on December 11, 2000 is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of negligence.” (Id.) Contrary to Mr. Hall’s argument, treating physicians offering expert opinions must be designated in accordance with Ut. R. Civ. P. 26 under Utah law.

In *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App. 303, 141 P.3d 629, the plaintiff brought medical malpractice claims against her plastic surgeon based on his alleged failure to remove gauze packing from a wound site. *Id.* at ¶¶3-4. During the discovery phase, the plaintiff designated several treating physicians as individuals likely to have discoverable information. *Id.* at ¶5. However, the plaintiff did not designate any expert witnesses by the deadline imposed under the applicable scheduling order. *Id.* at ¶6. The defendant thereafter filed a Motion for summary judgment, arguing that the plaintiff had not designated any expert to opine as to the appropriate standard of care and breach. *Id.* In response, the plaintiff offered the affidavit of one of her treating physicians, opining as to the standard of care. *Id.* The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the plaintiff offered no expert testimony. *Id.* On appeal, the plaintiff argued that “treating physicians are always exempt from the [expert disclosure] requirements of rule 26(a)(3).” *Id.* at ¶11.

This Court rejected that argument, holding:

To the extent a treating physician simply provides a factual description of his or her personal observations during treatment, the testimony is not opinion evidence and no identification of the treating physician as an expert is required. If, however, the treating physician also offers an opinion as to the standard of care or whether that standard has been breached, the testimony is no longer simply factual.

Id. at ¶13 (case citations omitted). In reaching its holding, the Court of Appeals also found support from other jurisdictions:

If [treating physicians] only testify as to what they observed and did within the physician-patient relationship, then they would be fact witnesses; if, in addition to testifying about the facts, the treating physicians offered an opinion, then they would be expert witnesses.

Id. at ¶14 (quoting *Smith v. Paiz*, 84 P.3d 1272, 1275-76 (Wyo. 2004)). *See also Thomas v. Consol. Rail Corp.*, 169 F.R.D. 1, 2 (D. Mass. 1996) (case cited by Utah Court of Appeals, **requiring disclosure and an expert report where treating physician offered opinion on causation**: “a treating physician who has formulated opinions going beyond what was necessary to provide appropriate care for the injured party steps into the shoes of a retained expert for purposes of rule 26(a)(2)”).

In the present action, it is undisputed Mr. Hall neither designated an expert nor submitted any expert reports. Therefore, under the plain language of *Youngblood*, Mr. Hall’s treating physicians may not offer any opinions as to the cause of his injuries. Because Mr.

Hall is unable to provide any evidence on causation, the Trial Court properly granted Mr. Steimle's Motion for Summary Judgment.

III. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT PRECLUDING SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Mr. Hall argues two disputed facts should have precluded the Trial Court from granting Mr. Steimle's Motion for Summary Judgment: (1) when Mr. Hall began experiencing pain after the December 2000 accident; and (2) the location, type, and severity of the pain experienced by Mr. Hall following the accident. (Hall Brief, p. 12). Both issues are immaterial to Mr. Steimle's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Mr. Hall argues that Mr. Steimle's causation arguments are "based upon the fact that there was a gap of a couple days between the accident and when Mr. Hall began seeking treatment." (Hall Brief, p. 13). As set forth above, Mr. Steimle's causation argument has nothing to do with Mr. Hall's date of treatment. Indeed, fact seven of Mr. Steimle's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment stated that Mr. Hall obtained treatment on December 11, 2000, the same day as the accident. The confusion regarding Mr. Hall's treatment comes from his own deposition testimony, wherein he stated he may not have begun experiencing pain for a couple of days after the accident. Either way, Mr. Hall's first date of treatment is irrelevant to Mr. Steimle's arguments on appeal, as well as his Motion for Summary Judgment before the Trial Court. Rather than basing his causation arguments on Mr. Hall's first date of treatment, Mr. Steimle bases his argument on Mr. Hall's

pre-existing injuries and treatment, coupled with his failure to obtain an expert on causation. Thus, the date Mr. Hall first began treatment after the December 2000 accident is irrelevant to his inability to establish causation.


As to the second “disputed” fact, Mr. Hall’s testimony regarding the pain he experienced after the December 2000 accident is also immaterial. Mr. Hall is not a medical expert. He is unable to offer testimony regarding whether the December 2000 accident, or his early lake-diving incident, caused his alleged injuries. Only a medical expert is able to offer such testimony. Even with Mr. Hall’s self-serving testimony, a fact finder would still be forced to speculate as to whether the December 2000 accident or Mr. Hall’s lake-diving incident caused his injuries. Because Mr. Hall failed to designate an expert to provide opinions regarding causation, he is unable to establish a causal link between the December 2000 MVA and his alleged injuries.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court’s ruling on Mr. Steimle’s Motion for Summary Judgment should be affirmed.